THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

S. Ct. Case No. SC09-1969 CASE No.: 3D08-2251

LINDA CRAWFORD,	
Petitioner.	
vs.	
JANNIE BARKER, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Manuel R. Crawford,	
Respondent.	
	/

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

James L. Weintraub, Esq. (Fla. Bar. No. 795046) James L. Weintraub, P.A. 7777 Glades Road, Suite 210 Boca Raton, Florida 33434 (561) 487-1201 jim@jamesweintraub.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

While married, Manuel Crawford designated his ex-wife, Linda Crawford, as the designated beneficiary of his Deferred Compensation Fund. (App. 2).

Prior to the dissolution of their marriage, the Crawfords entered into an Amended Family Mediation Unit Agreement that was adopted by the trial court and incorporated into a final judgment of dissolution. (App. 2).

The agreement contained a provision stating that "Husband shall retain retirement money with the Town of Surfside *and [the] Deferred Compensation Fund* f/k/a Pepso". (Emphasis added). (App. 2).

Manuel Crawford died without ever changing Linda Crawford as the designated beneficiary of the aforesaid Deferred Compensation Fund.

Both Jannie Barker, as the Personal Representative of Manuel Crawford's estate, and Linda Crawford claimed that they were entitled to the proceeds of the Deferred Compensation Fund.

The general master that initially reviewed this matter agreed with Jannie Barker and stated in his report and recommendations that:

"During the course of the marriage, 'Linda Crawford – wife' was named as the designated beneficiary of the Deferred Compensation Fund. However, Linda Crawford and Manuel R. Crawford agreed at the time of the signing of the amended mediated settlement agreement that Manuel R. Crawford should get the money from this fund and that he should be the

beneficiary. Manuel R. Crawford could have reaffirmed the designation of Linda Crawford had he chosen to do so following the dissolution of marriage. The fact that he did not reaffirm Linda Crawford as the beneficiary of this account confirms his intent that he was the beneficiary and that the money from the fund remained his at all times following the dissolution." (App. 2).

Linda Crawford filed [her] Exceptions to the General Master's Report and Recommendations. (App. 2).

The trial court entered an order sustaining Linda Crawford's exceptions finding that no reference was made in the Amended Family Mediation Unit Agreement to Linda Crawford's rights as a beneficiary to the proceeds of the Deferred Compensation Fund. (App. 2).

The Third District summarily reversed the trial court finding that the statement in the Amended Family Mediation Unit Agreement that "Husband shall retain retirement money with the Town of Surfside and Deferred Compensation Fund f/k/a Pepso" was sufficient to waive Manuel Crawford's pre-dissolution designation of Linda Crawford as a beneficiary. (App. 2).

The Third District indicated that it based its ruling on this Court's decision in *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 682 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1996) and the Fifth District's decision in *Smith v. Smith*, 919 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). (App. 3).

QUESTION PRESENTED

EVEN IF THE LANGUAGE IN THE (SHORT FORM) FAMILY MEDIATION UNIT AGREEMENT WAS SUFFICIENT TO WAIVE LINDA CRAWFORD'S RIGHT TO THE PROCEEDS OF THE DEFERRED COMPENSATION FUND, DOES THAT SUPERCEDE MANUEL CRAWFORD'S PRIOR DESIGNATION OF HER AS THE BENEFICIARY OF THESE PROCEEDS?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The law in Florida concerning the resolution of this matter is clear.

To determine whom Manuel Crawford intended as the beneficiary of his Deferred Compensation Fund, this Court should look no further than the plain language of the Deferred Compensation Fund. *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 682 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1996).

That person is Linda Crawford.

Ironically, the Third District here has cited two cases, one of which is the abovementioned ruling of this Court, that directly conflict with its decision in that (1) the General Master was correct in attempting to ascertain whether Manuel Crawford <u>intended</u> Linda Crawford to be the designated beneficiary of his account, and (2) the language in the (Short Form) Family Mediation Unit Agreement that "Husband shall retain retirement money with the Town of Surfside and the Deferred Compensation Fund f/k/a Pepsco,"

<u>supersedes</u> his pre-dissolution designation of Linda Crawford as the beneficiary of this account.

Based upon this Court's above mentioned precedent, the trier of fact in a dispute of this kind is <u>only</u> supposed to look at the plain language of the insurance policy, or, in this case, the Deferred Compensation Fund, in order to determine who is the designated beneficiary and therefore entitled to receive the proceeds there from.

Even if Linda Crawford was able to waive, and did in fact waive, her rights as the beneficiary of the subject proceeds via the (Short Form) Family Mediation Unit Agreement, Manuel Crawford's failure to change Linda Crawford as the designated beneficiary of his Deferred Compensation Fund following the dissolution of their marriage determines as a matter of law that she is entitled to the proceeds from this account.

For the foregoing reason, the Third District's decision should be reversed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for a pure question of law is de novo. *Major League Baseball v. Morsani*, 790 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 2001); *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So.2d 7 (Fla. 2000).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE DEFERRED COMPENSATION FUND DESIGNATING LINDA CRAWFORD AS THE DESIGNATED BENEFICIARY OF THIS ACCOUNT DETERMINES AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT SHE IS ENTITLED TO RECEIVE THE PROCEEDS THERE FROM.

The Florida Supreme Court's decision in *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 682 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1996) (hereinafter "*Cooper II*") is controlling.

In *Cooper II*, this Court resolved the same legal conflict as the one here that arose between the Second District *and* the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal.

In the underlying Second District case, *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 661 So.2d 52 (hereinafter "*Cooper I*"), a life insurer brought an interpleader action to determine whether an ex-spouse or sister of the deceased was entitled to the proceeds of a term life insurance policy.

The deceased husband named his ex-wife as the designated beneficiary of the term life insurance policy prior to their divorce. The final judgment of dissolution incorporated a separation agreement between the deceased husband and ex-wife that contained a mutual release of all claims either party might have against the other but made no specific mention of life insurance. The husband died without ever changing the beneficiary of

the policy in question. Both the ex-wife and deceased's sister claimed the proceeds. *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 661 So.2d 52, 53 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

The Second District held that "without specific reference in a property settlement agreement to life insurance proceeds, the beneficiary of the proceeds is determined by looking only to the insurance contract." *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 661 So.2d 52, 54 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

Several years before the Second District's decision in *Cooper I*, the Third and Fourth Districts each held that the named beneficiary ex-spouse was entitled to the life insurance proceeds. However, each of those cases reached this decision by looking beyond the life insurance policies to the express language contained in the subject settlement agreements to determine if the parties intended to release the life insurance benefit expectancy. *Davis v. Davis*, 301 So.2d 154 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974); *Aetna Life Insurance Co. v. White*, 242 So.2d 771 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970); and *Raggio v. Richardson*, 218 So.2d 501 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1969).

In *Cooper II*, this Court disagreed with the aforesaid analysis and resolved the conflict between the Second *and* the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal by affirming the holding in *Cooper I*, and in so doing, further held:

"We conclude that the plain language of the above documents controls. To the extent that Karin [the ex-wife] may have

claimed a right to remain primary beneficiary under the Academy policy as a condition of the dissolution of marriage, she waived any such claim when she signed the above agreement. The agreement clearly states: '[E]ach party hereby waives...all claims...which he or she...might have...against the other. Thomas was free to designate whomever he wished as beneficiary. To determine whom Thomas [the deceased exhusband] intended as beneficiary, we need look no further than the plain language of the policy itself: The primary beneficiary is Karin Pasquino'. After signing the separation agreement, Thomas did just what he needed to do to ensure that the proceeds would go to Karin-he did nothing." (Emphasis added) (Cooper II at pgs. 78 and 79).

Though the Third District relies on *Cooper II*, its decision directly conflicts with the same because it is based upon the General Master's opinion as to what Manuel Crawford's intent was with regard to his disposition of his Deferred Compensation Fund as opposed to adhering to the plain language set forth in the Deferred Compensation Plan designating Linda Crawford as the beneficiary of these proceeds. (App. 2).

Even if the statement in the Amended (Short Form) Family Mediation Unit Agreement that "Husband shall retain retirement money with the Town of Surfside and the Deferred Compensation Fund f/k/a Pepsco," was sufficient to waive the former husband's pre-dissolution designation of the former wife as a beneficiary, it is <u>irrelevant</u> in light of the fact that Manuel Crawford did not change Linda Crawford as the designated beneficiary of this account.

If Linda Crawford waived her right to remain primary beneficiary under the Deferred Compensation Fund via the aforesaid language in the (Short Form) Family Mediation Unit Agreement, Manuel Crawford was thereafter free to designate whomever he wished as the beneficiary of this account.

By his inaction, that is precisely what he did.

In this case, there is no dispute that the designated beneficiary of the Deferred Compensation Fund was Linda Crawford and that should have been the basis for the Third District's decision in this case.

The impact of the Third District's decision to ignore the plain language of the Deferred Compensation Fund (i.e., that Linda Crawford is the designated beneficiary of these proceeds) cannot be minimized because (1) it puts insurance companies and managers of financial institutions in an impossible position as they can no longer be certain whom to pay without going to court, in spite of what the subject policy or financial account says, or how clearly it may be worded, and (2) it takes away an account holder's rightful authority to designate the beneficiary of their own account.

In addition, if affirmed, the Third District's decision will undoubtedly reopen a veritable Pandora's box of litigation, such as the litigation that has taken place here, that would then be required to determine a decedent's

intent as to who should be the beneficiary of each and every one of his or her insurance policies and or financial accounts.

Public policy mandates that an insurance carrier or financial institution must be certain as to whom to pay the proceeds of any such policies.

In *Cooper II*, this Court, after a careful and thorough review, correctly decided the issue herein, and there is simply no basis or rational set forth in the Third District's opinion that would compel a change of the same.

The Fifth District's more recent decision in *Smith v. Smith*, 919 So.2d 525 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) lends further support to Linda Crawford's appeal.

In *Smith*, the Fifth District found that the same result reached in *Cooper II* "obtains with respect to [an] IRA and retirement plan proceeds," that would include a financial instrument such as the Deferred Compensation Fund here. *Smith v. Smith*, 919 So.2d 525, 527 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006).

CONCLUSION

Even if it is possible for one to waive their rights as a beneficiary, any such determination would be irrelevant to the issue in the instant appeal.

Instead, this appeal is about taking away an account holder's right to designate the beneficiary of his account.

Ironically, if this Court affirms the Third District's decision to take away the proceeds from the Deferred Compensation Fund from Linda Crawford, it will be jeopardizing an account holder's right to decide the designated beneficiary of their accounts.

All the (Short Form) Family Mediation Unit Agreement did was to make Manuel Crawford the owner of the proceeds of the Deferred Compensation Fund, and therefore, the sole arbiter of the disposition of these proceeds.

This he did by doing nothing.

Based upon this Court's legal precedent in *Cooper II* and the aforementioned public policy considerations, this Court should reverse the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal and finally see to it that Linda Crawford, the person that Manuel Crawford chose as the designated

beneficiary of his Deferred Compensation Fund, receives the proceeds there from.