IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

S. Ct. Case No. SC09-1969 DCA NO: 3D-08-2251

LINDA CRAWFORD, Petitioner,

VS.

JANNIE BARKER

as Personal Representative of the Estate of Manuel R. Crawford, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Thomas F. Pepe, Esquire Florida Bar No. 183230 PEPE & NEMIRE, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent 1450 Madruga Avenue, Suite 202 Coral Gables, Florida 33146 (305) 667-2564 (telephone) (305) 341 -0584 (facsimile)

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

As the General Magistrate found, the Amended Family Mediation Unit Agreement provided that: "Husband shall retain retirement money with ... the Deferred Compensation Fund f/ka/ [sic] Pepsco." [A. 39]. It was the General Magistrates opinion that Linda and Manny had "agreed at the time of the signing of the amended mediated settlement agreement that Manuel R. Crawford should get the money from this fund and that he should be the beneficiary." [A. 39].

The General Magistrate also found that Manny could have reaffirmed the designation of his ex-wife, Linda Crawford, as beneficiary. "The fact that he did not reaffirm Linda Crawford as the beneficiary of this account confirmed Manny's intent that he should be the beneficiary of this fund and that the money from the fund remained his at all times following the dissolution." See the General Magistrates Report [A. 39].

The General Magistrate recommended that the motion to enforce the Amended Family Mediation Unit Agreement should be granted and that Linda Crawford should be ordered to execute all documents required by Nationwide Retirement Solutions (the administrator of the Deferred Compensation Fund) to transfer the funds to the Estate of Manuel R. Crawford. [A. 39-40].

Manny's ex-wife, Linda Crawford, filed exceptions to the report and recommendations. The trial court sustained the exceptions of Manny's ex-wife simply because the court did not find any reference "...in the Amended Family Mediation Unit Agreement ...to Respondent's (ex-wife's) beneficiary rights to the proceeds of the subject deferred compensation account." [A. 44]. The "Order on Respondent's Exceptions" was entered on August 1, 2008. [A. 42-43]. An appeal was filed to the Third District Court of Appeal by Manny's daughter, as personal representative of Manny's estate, within 20 days of the rendition of that final order. [A. 44-47].

In that appeal the Third District was asked to decide whether a wife who was the designated beneficiary under a deferred compensation plan had waived her rights as beneficiary when she signed a marital settlement agreement in which she agreed that her husband should receive the proceeds of the plan.

The Third District, in the case at bar, answered the question in the affirmative. It held that when Mrs. Crawford agreed that her "[h]usband shall **retain retirement money with** the Town of Surfside and **the Deferred Compensation Fund** f/k/a Pepsco" [emphasis added], this was sufficient to act as a waiver, by Mrs. Crawford, of her beneficiary rights to the money or proceeds of the Deferred Compensation Fund. The Third District reversed the trial court's order and affirmed the General Magistrates Report and Recommendations.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The petitioner, ex-wife, is seeking discretionary review on the basis of misapplication of the law. The opinion of the Third District in *Barker v*. *Crawford*, No. 3D08-2251 (Fla. 3r^d DCA 2009) did not misapply the law as set

forth in *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 682 S.2d 77 (Fla. *1996)("Cooper IT)* or *Smith v. Smith*, 919 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). Therefore, conflict jurisdiction does not exist.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

JURISDICTION

There is no conflict between the *Barker* case and the *Cooper II* or the *Smith* case, whether under a theory of misapplication, or otherwise. There is a difference between the question of law addressed in the *Barker* case and the question of law addressed in both the *Cooper II* and in the *Smith* case.

The question of law in the *Barker* case was whether a wife waives her beneficiary rights to the proceeds of a retirement fund by implication when she signs a marital settlement agreement in which she agrees that her husband should receive the proceeds.

Cooper II is distinguishable since it involved a different issue of law. In *Cooper II*, the issue involved the proceeds of a life insurance policy. The court was confronted with a marital settlement agreement that did not even indicate that a life insurance policy existed, let alone who should receive the proceeds of that policy. Thus, *Cooper II* is unlike the *Barker* case since the *Barker* agreement **specifically identified the fund** and **specifically identified who should receive the proceeds** of that fund. The question of law in the *Cooper II* case was whether the claim of the designated beneficiary of a life insurance policy should take precedence, over the claims of the heirs, to the death benefits of the policy. The sole basis for support of the claim of the heirs was the vague and general waiver language found in the marital settlement agreement in which the policy was never even mention.

The waiver agreement in *Cooper II* stated that each spouse waived all claims **as a surviving spouse** and it merely stated that "each party hereby waives **... all claims ...** which he or she ... **might have ...** against the other...by reason of any matter... **prior to the date of this agreement.''** Thus, in *Cooper II*, the waiver did not include the life insurance policy since the ex-spouse had a right to the proceeds, not by being a **surviving spouse**, but by being the designated beneficiary of the policy.

The claim of the ex-wife in *Cooper II*, as designated beneficiary, was not waived in the marital settlement agreement because it did not fall under either of the categories found in her marital settlement agreement under which she agreed to waive her rights. First of all, her claim to the life insurance proceeds did not exist as a claim that she had **"prior to the date of the agreement"** since her husband was, obviously, still alive at that point in time. Secondly, the claim of the ex-wife as designated beneficiary did not fall under the category of "...claims ...

which ...she ... might have ... against the other...." Her claim was against the heirs - not against her ex-husband.

In *Cooper II*, the court found, upon an analysis of the facts of that case, that if "... the **general language** in the separation agreement trumps the **specific language in the policy**, [it] would place Academy [the insurance company] in an impossible position...." [Explanation added]. This was clearly distinguishable from the instant case where the language of Manny's settlement agreement was specific and not general.

In *Cooper II*, the court indicated that the insurance company would not be in an impossible position if the settlement agreement had designated who should receive the proceeds and if the insurance company was put on notice of this fact. See fn 1, *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 682 So.2d at 77. Consequently, in the instant case where the retirement fund was put on notice of both Manny's property settlement agreement as well as the dispute between Manny's ex-wife and Manny's daughter, the fund manager was not in an impossible position. He merely withheld distribution until further order of court.

The court in *Cooper II* stated that: " ... we approve the results in Cooper *[Cooper I]* on this issue." There, in *Cooper I (Cooper v. Muccitelli,* 661 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995)) the Second District held that: "... **without specific**

reference in a property settlement agreement **to** life insurance **proceeds**, the beneficiary of the proceeds is determined by looking only to the insurance contract." [Explanation added].

Consequently, the legal question in *Cooper I* and *Cooper II* is different than the legal question in *Barker* since in *Barker* the settlement agreement **did make specific reference** to the money or proceeds from the retirement fund. The *Smith case* is equally distinguishable from the *Barker* case. In *Smith*, once again in the marital settlement agreement the parties failed to designate who should receive the proceeds of a retirement plan.

Additionally, the court at bar does not have "misapplication jurisdiction" since the *Barker* decision does not state that the *Cooper* or the *Smith* decisions stand for any particular holding. The Third District, in *Barker*, merely cited *Cooper II* and *Smith* as source material. Therefore, the petition seeking conflict jurisdiction should be denied.

ON THE MERITS

The intent of Manny Crawford should be of paramount importance. After the decision in *Cooper II*, a layperson, such as Manny, would rightly assume that he would need to do nothing in order for his heirs to receive his retirement account if he made sure that his spouse agreed in their property settlement agreement that

he, and not his spouse, was to receive the money or proceeds of from that account. In the instant case, the parties agreed that Manny was to receive the proceed and, in essence, that Manny was to be the beneficiary of his own retirement account.

The retirement fund manager is not in an impossible situation if he is put on notice of the property settlement agreement before he disburses any money from the account. If he is in doubt, he can hold the funds until a court order is entered, as in the instant case, or he can easily interplead the funds into the registry of the court. Even if he disburses the funds after receiving notice of the change of beneficiary, the ex-spouse should be considered to be a constructive trustee of those funds. The heirs should then have the right to recover those funds in an equitable action against the ex-spouse.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE IS NO EXPRESSED AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN A DECISION OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT OR ANY DISTRICT COURT ON THE SAME ISSUE OF LAW AS DECIDED BY THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE INSTANT CASE.

The Third District's decision in *Barker* held that a wife can waive her beneficiary interest in the proceeds of a retirement fund when she signs a marital settlement agreement giving those specific retirement proceeds to her husband. This decision is not expressly and directly in conflict with either *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 682 S.2d 77 (Fla. *1996)("Cooper II")* or *Smith v. Smith*, 919 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005) since the issues of law are different.

In *Cooper I* and *Cooper II*, the agreement did not even mention the existence of any death benefits. There, Mrs. Cooper was the sister of the deceased husband. Mrs. Muccitelli was the husband's ex-wife. Husband and Muccitelli were married in 1984. Husband purchased a life insurance policy in 1987. Muccitelli was named as primary beneficiary. Husband and Muccitelli were separated and entered into a **separation agreement** but the separation agreement **did not mention the life insurance policy.** The Husband died after the marriage was dissolved.

The Second District in the case of *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 661 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) ("*Cooper 1*") held that the rights to the **PROCEEDS** can be fixed by a separation agreement approved by the court. However, the Second District held that "... without specific reference in a property settlement agreement to the insurance **proceeds**, the beneficiary of the **proceeds** is determined by looking only to the insurance contract." *A fortiori*, where the Settlement Agreement makes specific reference to the proceeds of the policy, as in the instant case, the beneficiary is determined by the Settlement Agreement.

The court in *Cooper I*, certified what it believed to be conflict with other district courts, whose decisions it perceived to require an evidentiary determination of intent when the settlement agreement failed to make a specific reference to the proceeds. The court in *Cooper I* held that "...without specific reference in a property settlement agreement to life insurance proceeds, the beneficiary of the proceeds is determined by looking only to the insurance contract." However, in the case at bar, there was specific reference to the proceeds and to whom the retirement proceeds were to go.

The Florida Supreme Court, in *Cooper II*, agreed with *Cooper I* to the extent that the property separation agreement used such vague and general terms that there was no indication that a life insurance policy existed, let alone any mention as to who was to receive the **proceeds** of the policy. The court found that such **general language**, as found in the *Cooper I* separation agreement, which merely provided for the general release of claims between the parties and which **did not** mention who should receive the proceeds, did not trump the **specific language of the policy**. See *Cooper v*. *Muccitelli*, 682 S.2d at 77.

The Florida Supreme Court did not specifically analyze the holding in the decisions of *Davis v. Davis*, 301 So.2d 154 (Fla. 3¹ DCA 1974); *Aetna Life Insurance Co. v. White*, 242 So.2d 771 (Fla. 4t^h DCA 1970); or *Raggio v.*

Richardson, 218 So.2d 501 (Fla. 3r^d DCA 1969). Also, the Florida Supreme Court **did** indicate that the language of the settlement agreement would be controlling if the agreement names the individual who is to receive the proceeds and if the insurance company is put on notice of this fact. See *Cooper*, 661 So.2d at 77, fnl.

The Third District's decision is also **not** in conflict with *Smith v. Smith*, 919 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). In *Smith*, the husband had policies of insurance and retirement plans to which the wife was named as the beneficiary. When the parties dissolved their marriage, they entered into a property settlement agreement that provided that: "Husband shall receive as his own and Wife shall have no further rights or responsibilities regarding these assets". This, as in the *Cooper* case, was very general language and very confusing. It did not contain the specific language as was contained in the case at bar in which Linda Crawford specifically agreed that Manny was to receive the proceeds from the retirement fund.

While the Fifth District, in *Smith*, acknowledge that a spouse could waive her designated beneficiary rights, the court made specific note of the fact that "The agreement [in *Smith*], however, <u>made no mention of the proceeds</u> or death benefits of the policies and plans." [Emphasis and explanation added]. Thus, the court in *Smith*, held that a spouse can enter into a settlement agreement and waive

her beneficiary rights to a retirement fund when she agrees that her husband should receive the proceeds of the retirement fund.

In the instant case, Mr. and Mrs. Crawford's Settlement Agreement **did** address the proceeds of the Deferred Compensation Fund. The Settlement Agreement **did** specifically address who should receive the proceeds of this fund. Therefore, the case at bar is distinguishable by its facts from the *Cooper II* and *Smith* decisions and, thus, there is no conflict with either *Cooper II* or *Smith*.

Also, the *Barker* decision is not in conflict with *Cooper II* or *Smith* since the Third District did not misapply the holdings in either of those cases. In *Barker*, the Third District merely cited *Cooper II* and *Smith* as general source material. The use of the notational signal "*See*", preceding the Third District's citation to the *Cooper II* and the *Smith* decisions, merely provides an indication that the decision in *Barker* will be suggested by an examination of the *Cooper II* and the *Smith* cases. THE HARVARD LAW REVIEW ASSOCIATION, Garnnett House, A Uniform System of Citation, 87, Eleventh Edition, 1970. Therefore, the case at bar is distinguishable from the *Cooper II* and *Smith* decisions and there is no misapplication of either *Cooper II* or *Smith*.

POINT II

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR WHEN IT HELD THAT A SPOUSE WAIVES HER RIGHTS TO THE PROCEEDS OF HER SPOUSE'S RETIREMENT FUND WHEN SHE SIGNS A MARITAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WHICH PROVIDES THAT HER HUSBAND SHALL RECEIVE THE PROCEEDS OF THAT FUND.

STANDARD OF REVIEW - DE NOVO

Where a trial court's ruling is based entirely on written evidence, which is the case in the instant appeal, "the appellate court is in the same position as the trial court in weighing the evidence" and the standard of review is *de novo*. See *W Shore Rest. Corp. v. Turk*, 101 So. 2d 123 (Fla. 1957). An issue of law is reviewed by the *de novo* standard. See *Bakerman v. Bombay Co., Inc.*, 961 So. 2d 259, 261 (Fla. 2007) (question of law is subject to de novo.) See also *D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice*, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003) ("The standard of review for the pure questions of law before us is de novo."); See also *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000) ("[T]he standard of review for a pure question of law is de novo."); *Cassoutt v. Cassna Aircraft Company*, 742 So.2d 493 (Fla. DCA I' 1999).

ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal ("Third District") was correct when it reversed the final judgment of the trial court in the case at bar and when the Third District confirmed the decision of the General Magistrate. The trial court erred when it overruled the General Magistrate and denied enforcement of the parties' property Settlement Agreement (Amended Family Mediation Unit Agreement).

In the Settlement Agreement the ex-wife had agreed that the **proceeds** of Manuel R. Crawford's ("Manny")'s Deferred Compensation Fund were to be paid to Manny. The trial court erred when it ruled that Manny's ex-wife needed to specifically state, in the Settlement Agreement, that she was waiving her "beneficiary rights".

The trial court overlooked the fact that, if Manny's ex-wife had any "right" to be the beneficiary of this fund, and/or if she had a "right" to the proceeds of this fund, she clearly expressed her intent to waive that "right" when she agreed that the money from the fund was to go to Manny. Such waiver, by implication, is as enforceable as a written waiver. See *Haddad v. Hester*, No. 3D06-901 (Fla. 3r^d DCA 2007).

Moreover, Manny's ex-wife only had an expectancy to receive the proceeds of the fund; she did not have a "right" to the fund at the time she signed the Settlement Agreement. Therefore there is no reason for the mediator of the Family

Mediation Unit, who drafted the Settlement Agreement, to have included such a provision in the Agreement.

In order for Manny's ex-wife to agree that the proceeds of this fund were to go to Manny, she obviously knew that she was giving up whatever "right" she may have had to this fund. Furthermore, Manny, and rightly so, had no reason to think that he needed to do anything else in order for his daughter and/or his estate to collect the proceeds of this fund when he died.

It was the General Magistrate's finding that Manny and his ex-wife "... agreed at the time of the signing of the Amended Family Mediation Unit Agreement that Manuel R. Crawford should get the money from this fund and that he should be the beneficiary." [R.110].

The General Magistrate also found that Manny could have reaffirmed the designation of his ex-wife as beneficiary, if he had wished her to continue to be the beneficiary, but he did not do so. The General Magistrate stated: "The fact that he did not reaffirm Linda Crawford as the beneficiary of this account confirmed Manny's intent that he should be the beneficiary of the fund and that the money from the fund remained his at all times following the dissolution." See the General Magistrates Report [R.110].

The General Magistrate recommended that the motion to enforce the Amended Family Mediation Unit Agreement be granted, and that Linda Crawford be ordered to execute all documents required by Nationwide Retirement Solutions (the administrator of the Deferred Compensation Fund) to transfer the funds to the Estate of Manuel R. Crawford. [R.110-111].

The Settlement Agreement, signed in 2005, provides that Manny was to retain the proceeds of the retirement fund and therefore this provision trumps the prior "designation of beneficiary", signed by Manny in 1993. See *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 661 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2' DCA 1995). The 2005 Settlement Agreement shows that the clear intent of Manny and his ex-wife was to have Manny become the new beneficiary of the fund, which should now go to his daughter.

Even though *Cooper v. Muccitelli* is distinguishable, it is instructive. First of all, in *Cooper*, the agreement did not even address the existence of any death benefits. The facts in the *Cooper case* are fairly straightforward. Cooper is the sister of the deceased Husband. Mrs. Muccitelli is the husband's ex-wife. The husband and Muccitelli were married in 1984. The husband purchased a life insurance policy in 1987. Muccitelli was named as primary beneficiary. The husband and Muccitelli were separated and entered into a **separation agreement**. Later, during the course of the dissolution of their marriage, the **separation agreement** was incorporated into Final Judgment but the **separation agreement did not mention the life insurance policy.** The husband died after the divorce.

The Second District in the *Cooper* case held that the rights to the **PROCEEDS** can be fixed by a separation agreement approved by the court. However, the Second District held that "... without specific reference in a property settlement agreement to the insurance **proceeds**, the beneficiary of the **proceeds** is determined by looking only to the insurance contract." *A fortiori*, where the Settlement Agreement does make specific reference to the proceeds of the policy, the beneficiary is determined by the Settlement Agreement.

The Florida Supreme Court approved the results in the *Cooper* case. The language in the *Cooper* property separation agreement was general and did not mention who was to receive the **proceeds** of the policy nor did it even mention the policy itself. The court found that such **general language**, as found in the *Cooper* separation agreement, which merely provided for the general release of claims between the parties and which **did not** mention who should receive the proceeds, did not trump the **specific language of the policy.** See *Cooper v. Muccitelli*, 682 S.2d 77 (Fla. 1996).

The Fourth District in *Levy v. Dellinger*, 760 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 4t^h 2000) followed the *Cooper* case and held that: "Where a separation agreement **does not** include any mention of the **proceeds** of a retirement fund, courts 'need look no further than the plain language of the policy' to determine who the decedent intended as the beneficiary of the **proceeds.''** [Emphasis added]. Of course, the *Levy case* is distinguishable since **in the case at bar** the **Settlement Agreement very specifically mentioned the proceeds** and stated that the money from the retirement fund was to go to Manny.

The *Smith v. Smith*, No 5D04-3832 (Fla. 5t^h DCA 2005)), while distinguishable, is also instructive. There the husband had policies of insurance and retirement plans to which the wife was named as the beneficiary. When the parties dissolved their marriage, they entered into a property settlement agreement which provided that: "Husband shall receive as his own and Wife shall have no further rights or responsibilities regarding these assets". This was confusing language and, once again, very general language, as was also found in *Cooper*.

The Fifth District in *Smith* acknowledge that a spouse could waive her designated beneficiary rights. However, the court made specific note of the fact that "The agreement [in *Smith*], ..., <u>made no mention of the proceeds</u> or death benefits of the policies and plans." [Emphasis added]. After the court discussed the disposition of the life insurance policy **proceeds** it stated: "The same result obtains with respect to IRA and retirement plan **proceeds**, as well. Once again, in *Smith*, the marital settlement agreement did not mention a disposition of the **proceeds....**" of the IRA or the retirement plan. [Emphasis added].

The court in *Smith*, held that an ex-wife **can waives her beneficiary rights** when she specifically gives up her rights to the "proceeds" of a policy or fund.

Consequently, the court in *Smith*, held that, since the ex-wife in *Smith* did not specifically agree that her husband was to receive the proceeds, the court must look to the insurance contract to determine the name of the beneficiary. Here, this is not the case. See also, e.g., *Roxy v. Roxy*, 454 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); *Dixon v. Dixon*, 184 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966) which hold that a named beneficiary of an insurance policy is not entitled to the death benefits because the dissolution judgment provided that the children or former spouse were entitled to the proceeds.

The interpretation of the appellate court in the *Smith case* is in accord with the decisions of the Third District, as is set forth below, concerning an implied waiver. Consequently, when one party agrees that the other party is to receive the proceeds, the first party, by reason of such agreement, has waived her right to those proceeds by implication.

In the instant case, Manny's Settlement Agreement was approved by the court and adopted into the final judgment for dissolution of marriage. This Settlement Agreement **did address the proceeds** of the Deferred Compensation Fund. The Settlement Agreement **did** specifically addresses who should get the proceeds of this fund. The mediator who drafted this Settlement Agreement

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